### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ETHERIA VERDEL JACKSON,

Appellant,

 $\mathbf{v}_{\bullet}$ 

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 69,197

FEB 19 1987

CLERK SUPNEME COURT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAULA S. SAUNDERS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32302 (904)488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

##

#### IN THE SUPEME COURT OF FLORIDA

ETHERIA VERDEL JACKSON, :

Appellant, :

v. : CASE NO. 69,197

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

:

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

#### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, ETHERIA VERDEL JACKSON, was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as appellant or by his proper name.

The record on appeal, consisting of four volumes of pleadings, sequentially numbered at the bottom of each page, will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis. The transcript of proceedings below is contained in twenty volumes, sequentially numbered at the top of each page, and will be referred to as "T" followed by the appropriate page number.

#### II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Grand Jurors of Duval County for the first degree murder of Linton A. Moody on December 3, 1985 (R.8-9).

Appellant was arraigned on the charge on December 23, 1985, and the Public Defender was appointed to represent him (R.10; T.1565-1567). On January 9, 1986, appellant appeared in court with his appointed counsel, Alan Chipperfield, to discuss a potential conflict or appearance of impropriety in the case. Counsel advised the court that Lynn Fowler, the investigator who conducted the initial interview of Mr. Jackson for the Public Defender's Office, was dating Richard Mullaney, the prosecutor assigned to the case. Mr. Mullaney represented to the court that he had never discussed the case with the defense investigator and, in fact, only learned that Ms. Fowler was involved in the case through Mr. Chipperfield. The court, satisfied that there had been no breach of confidentiality, instructed the prosecutor and Ms. Fowler not to discuss the case with each other and ordered both parties to file affidavits stating that at no time had they discussed the matter (T.1539-1545). The affidavits were filed pursuant to the court's instructions (R.36-37, 38).

Appellant's pretrial motion to suppress statements (R.84-85) was denied after a hearing on May 14, 1986 (R.408; T.25-109). Also at the hearing, the trial court considered and denied appellant's motion in limine concerning penalty (R.125-127, 412; T.141-146). The court took under advisement appellant's motion in limine concerning his parole status (R.243-244; T.147-151).

At the motion hearing on May 19, 1986, the trial court considered three other motions in limine filed by appellant, and denied each one: motion to exclude certain oral statements of appellant; motion to prohibit impeachment of appellant

by prior criminal convictions, and motion to prohibit evidence referring to appellant's stay in prison (R.420-421, 422-423, 434, 427, 437; T.159-165, 168-172, 173-176).

Appellant proceeded to jury trial before Circuit Judge L. Page Haddock on June 17-20, 1986. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found appellant guilty of first degree murder as charged (R.646; T.1207).

Following an advisory penalty hearing on July II, 1986, the jury recommended by a vote of seven to five that the trial court impose the death sentence (R.704; T.1482-1483). Appellant was adjudicated guilty of murder in the first degree, and in accordance with the jury recommendation, the court sentenced appellant to death (R.733-738; T.1531-1534).

Appellant's amended motion for new trial (R.677-688) and motion for new penalty phase hearing (R.705-710) were heard on August 8, 1986, and denied by written order (R.731, 732; T.1496-1506).

Notice of appeal was timely filed (R.742), and the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to handle the appeal. This appeal follows.

#### III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Linton Moody and his brother Wendall owned and operated a retail furniture business in Jacksonville for 41 years. Since beginning the business in 1947, Linton Moody would cash a bank check every month and then cash customers' welfare and social security checks to collect their monthly installment payments. When making collections, Mr. Moody routinely called his brother at 10:00 in the morning or came in at 11:00 a.m. (T.493-496).

On November 29, 1985, Linton cashed a \$4,000 check to collect the December payments. On Monday, December 2, Mr.Moody came in to the store at 10:30 a.m. and stayed there until 1:00 or 2:00 p.m. When Linton did not check in at the usual time on Tuesday, December 3, Wendall Moody called his brother's home, but did not receive an answer. Later that afternoon Mr. Moody filed a missing person report (T.501-504).

On December 5, 1985, Officer Raymond Godbee investigated a reported abandoned car at 3491 Brentwood Avenue. A carpet was folded up in the back section of the 1983 Chevrolet station wagon. Godbee opened the tailgate of the car, partially unfolded the carpet and discovered the body of Linton Moody (T.505-512, 549).

The vehicle was impounded. At the crime lab, the carpet was removed from the vehicle and unrolled (T.574-515, 541). The victim's brown briefcase was removed from under the backseat of the station wagon (T.553-554). Appellant's fingerprints were identified on a red calling card box found inside Mr. Moody's briefcase (T.950, 952-963).

Linda Riley and her two children, Kalimah and Letheria, lived at 1770 Payne Street. Letheria, age 2, is also appellant's daughter. In December, 1985, Ms. Riley owed Linton Moody \$39.95 for a washing machine. Mr. Moody would come to

her home each month and cash her AFDC check, deducting the amount of her monthly payment on the washing machine. Mr. Moody had collected seven or eight payments. Appellant was present on a few occasions when Mr. Moody had cashed checks for her. On December 2, 1985, Mr. Moody came by Linda's house and left his business card in the door, indicating that he would return the next day. He returned between 8:30 and 9:00 a.m. on December 3, 1985. Linda answered the door and invited Mr. Moody inside while she got a sweater to go to the mailbox for her welfare check. When she went upstairs for her sweater, appellant asked who was at the door and Linda told him "the furniture man" (T.567-572).

After getting her check from the mailbox, Linda saw Etheria downstairs talking to Mr. Moody. Etheria had a cast on his right arm. Linda endorsed her check and gave it to her creditor. He gave her \$200 and a receipt. At that point, Etheria walked behind Mr. Moody, grabbed him and pointed a knife at his neck. Appellant forced Moody to the ground on his stomach. Over appellant's objections, Linda testified that Mr. Moody complained that he had asthma and was having trouble breathing. Appellant then told Linda to check the man's pockets and Linda removed his wallet and keys. Linda claimed that appellant took all the money but gave her the check Mr. Moody had cashed (T.572-576).

Linda tied Mr. Moody's hands at appellant's instructions. Mr. Moody asked appellant to have mercy. Letheria, Linda's and appellant's daughter, came downstairs and Linda carried her to the top of the stairs. When Linda came back into the room, appellant was choking Linton Moody with a belt. Moody was unconscious when appellant stopped, but when he started regaining consciousness, appellant beat Mr. Moody in the face with his cast. Linda went into the kitchen to fix breakfast and heard thumping sounds. She looked into the other room and saw appellant straddling Mr. Moody, stabbing him in the chest (T.577-580).

Linda and Etheria rolled the body up in the carpet. Linda drove Mr. Moody's car to the back of her house. She took a gun out of the glove compartment and hid it in her washing machine. Then appellant, Linda and a passerby loaded the carpet in the car and appellant drove off (T.587-588).

Later that afternoon Linda cashed her AFDC check at Surfside Furniture Store and paid her monthly \$83 bill. The following day, Wednesday, Ms. Riley took her children to their babysitter, Mrs. Harris, and paid her \$40. She and appellant then went to Davis Furniture Company to purchase a new rug for the living room. Appellant used the name Anthony Freeman when he ordered the rug. Randy Bowman identified a photograph of Mr. Jackson as the man who purchased the carpet and recalled that he had a cast on his arm. Linda paid Mr. Bowman \$300 cash for the new carpet (T.597-601, 724-729, 754-755, 858-860). Linda and Etheria made other purchases at the Gateway Shopping Center that Wednesday. They used Mr. Moody's money and the remaining cash from Linda's AFDC check (T.601-602).

On Thursday, December 5, Linda went to the home of an associate, Renee, to talk about the murder. That afternoon Linda and Etheria rented a car from Tillman Auto Rental. After going to the car wash, Ms. Riley dropped appellant off at a barbershop, drove to the Sheraton Hotel to get a paycheck, picked up Renee and went to the police to report the crime (T.602-605).

After reporting the crime to the police, Ms. Riley and her children stayed with Renee for about a week. She then moved in with Jerosa Jackson, appellant's mother, after appellant's arrest. She talked to Etheria on the telephone and took clothing and children to the jail. She left Mrs. Jackson's home after appellant was indicted for murder because she felt uncomfortable there (T.609-611).

Linda Riley denied having an affair with Linton Moody (T.588). Appellant objected when the prosecutor asked Ms. Riley when appellant got out of prison; the objection was overruled and appellant's motion for mistrial denied (T.589-91). Ms. Riley testified that appellant was released on December 4, 1984, one year before the murder of Mr. Moody. Linda did not have any relationship with Mr. Moody prior to December, 1984 (T.591-592).

Linda testified on direct examination that she failed to appear for a deposition in April when she was visiting a relative. When she returned to Jacksonville, Detective Warren told her she could be charged as a hostile witness for failure to appear. She was never threatened with arrest for the murder of Linton Moody (T.606-608).

On cross-examination Ms. Riley testified that on the morning of the murder, Mr. Jackson was acting confused and panicky. He was talking to himself as if he didn't know what to do and had not planned anything (T.632). Linda took some money from Mr. Moody's pockets but she gave it to Etheria. She tied Mr. Moody with a belt that was laying on the floor, gaggd him with a rag doll, and used her own scarf to tie around his mouth. She later threw the rag doll in a dumpster, along with Mr. Moody's watch, wallet, keys, receipt books and the belt Linda used to choke him. Although she left the living room and went into the kitchen to get something for her children to eat, she never went outside to call for help, even though her neighbors were home (T.633-636, 639-640, 643-644). She helped Etheria move furniture off the carpet before rolling up the body in the rug. She could not remember what she did with the knives used to stab Mr. Moody (T.638, 640-641).

Ms. Riley further stated on cross-examination that she drove the rental car to the police station when she reported the murder, but never mentioned

to Detective Warren that the rental car was outside. Detective Warren drove Linda and Renee home that day. Linda returned the rental car to Tillman Auto after four days, having driven 197 miles. The rental agreement allowed 200 miles. Linda received a \$95.21 refund on the rental deposit (T.627-628, 654-656, 739-749).

Although she paid bills with her \$240 welfare check, Linda told Detective Warren that appellant took that money from her (T.628-629). Ms. Riley had been fired from her job at the Sheraton before the murder, and her only income was her last paycheck and monthly AFDC payment. Besides owing Mr. Moody \$39.95 in December, she owed \$29 a month to Newsom Furniture, \$83 a month to Surfside Furniture, \$11 in rent, and over \$1,000 in student loans. After the murder she paid Newsom Furniture \$90 for three months, \$83 to Surfside Furniture, \$40 to Mrs. Harris, \$349 for the new carpet from Davis Furniture, as well as purchasing a new skirt outfit, pair of boots, designer stockings, and renting the car (T.645-653). Although Linda said she did not know what happened to the rest of Mr. Moody's money (T.657), she and Renee went shopping again at the Argyle Shopping Center on the Saturday after going to the police (T.660).

Ms. Riley had Army basic training when she joined the National Guard in 1979 (T.661, 696). The court sustained the state's objection when defense counsel asked Linda whether she was seeing anyone else while Etheria was in jail (T.665-668). On proffer outside the presence of the jury, Ms. Riley stated she was seeing someone while appellant was in jail (T.668-669). The court rejected appellant's argument that the proffered cross-examination was proper to show the witness' bias (T.669). Appellant also proffered testimony that Linda got pregnant by someone else while appellant was in jail, which testimony was excluded (T.672-673).

Ms. Riley went into hiding and failed to appear when the case was first set for trial. She surfaced after a friend was arrested for collecting Linda's food

stamps. She went to the Prison Farm and her children were taken into custody pending the trial. She was never charged with contempt for failing to appear or with food stamp fraud (T.683-684). After one week at the Prison Farm, she moved to the Hilton Hotel where she was staying at the time of the trial (T.687-688).

On December 3, 1985, around noon, Edward Doldron and a friend, David Thomas, were driving north on David Street just past the railroad tracks. David saw an acquaintance and motioned Doldron to stop. A man with a cast on his arm came up to the car and asked where he could find cocaine. Doldron identified appellant as the man with the cast. Appellant offered to buy Doldron gas and told him, "I just hit a sweet lick" (T.709-710, 712). Appellant took four or five stacks of \$20 bills out of his front pockets. When they went to buy cocaine, Doldron saw stacks of folded \$50 bills in appellant's back pockets. The three men returned to the house on Payne Street and stayed in the kitchen to use cocaine. Doldron did not see any carpet in the living room (T.713-715).

Doldron was a mechanic and appellant offered to pay him to fix his car. Etheria paid him cash for purchasing the parts. When Doldron returned the car, he learned that appellant was in jail, and he went to the Sheriff's Office to find out about getting paid for repairing the car. He spoke with Detective Warren and picked appellant's photograph out of a photospread (T.717-721, 752-753).

Appellant never told Doldron that he killed or hurt anyone. Doldron never saw any blood on appellant's shoes, clothes or cast. He called the Sheriff's office because he heard there was a reward and he wanted either a reward or to get paid for repairing the car (T.721, 723).

Freddie Johnson lives with his mother at 1650 Myrtle Avenue. Johnson met Etheria Jackson and Etheria's brother in his front yard the weekend after Mr.

Moody was murdered. Appellant's brother asked Johnson to tell the police that Etheria was at Johnson's home the previous Monday night watching a football game and that he stayed all night. Johnson testified that appellant was not with him that night and, in fact, had never been to his house to watch television (T.759, 762-746, 767).

On Sunday night, December 8, appellant went home to talk to his mother. She wanted to know what happened because she thought Linda and he were in jail. Appellant told her three versions of how the murder took place, but Mrs. Jackson could not recall the order of each version appellant told her. After refreshing her memory with her sworn statement (R.751-787), Mrs. Jackson told the jury that appellant said he was talking to Mr. Moody about the cast on his arm when Linda and Lee hit Mr. Moody in the head and killed him; Lee and Linda rolled the body up in the carpet; Linda drove the car to the back door and appellant drove off with the body in the car. The three of them were going to split the money. Appellant asked his mother how the story sounded, and then revised the story, telling her that he was upstairs, Linda called him and when he came downstairs Mr. Moody was dead. Linda and Mr. Moody were having an affair, and one of them wanted out of the relationship; they got into a fight and she killed him. Linda took the money and gave some to Etheria to pay some bills. Lastly, Etheria told his mother that the murder was committed before he got home and that Linda rolled up the body in the carpet. Linda got the money but gave some to appellant. He paid bills and they went shopping and Linda rented a car (T.769-783, 789-794, 799-800).

Mrs. Jackson stated on cross-examination that her son was upset when he was talking to her and ashamed that he got involved by driving the car. He maintained that Linda had killed Mr. Moody over a dispute about their affair.

Etheria did not know what was going on between Linda Riley and Mr. Moody aside from what Linda told him. Appellant admitted helping roll-up the body as best as he could with the cast on his arm and admitted driving the car and spending some of Mr. Moody's money. Appellant did not have any money on him when he came to his mother's house (T.803-808).

Detective J. D. Warren interviewed appellant at the police station on December 9, 1985. Appellant was advised of his rights and signed a rights form. According to Warren, appellant was nervous, but did not appear intoxicated. When the officer told Mr. Jackson that he was under arrest for the murder of Linton Moody, appellant responded that Linda Riley committed the murder and he was not present when it occurred. He said he spent the night at Freddie's watching football and when he got to Linda's apartment at 9:00 a.m., the body was already rolled up in the carpet. Linda had a large sum of money in her pocket and she admitted that she killed Mr. Moody. She told Etheria that she was behind him and she stabbed him with a knife in his chest. Appellant said that Linda and Linton Moody had an affair while he [appellant] was in prison and Mr. Moody kept messing with Linda. Etheria wanted to call the police, but Linda wanted to dispose of the body (T.814-818, 824-828, 830-831).

Linda and Etheria put the carpet in the car with the help of a young boy. At first appellant said Linda drove off with the body, but he later told Detective Warren that he and Linda drove the car to the Brentwood project, started walking back together and then split up. He said they took the children to Linda's babysitter, Mrs. Harris. Linda and he spent some of the money shopping. He told the detective he purchased a new carpet at Davis Furniture using the name Anthony Freeman. He used his own name at Tillman Auto. On the night of December 5, Etheria was walking up Payne Street toward Linda's apartment when he saw the police; he turned around and walked away (T.828-832).

Detective Warren obtained a search warrant for appellant's cast and he met appellant at University Hospital later that day. At the hospital Etheria told Detective Warren that after the case was over they would be friends; that Warren had him [appellant] "like a hawk" and "I had the opportunity." Warren said he still did and appellant responded, "Not really, I have to go with what I told you, I can't change my story now" (T.833-835). He continued to tell the officer that he could beat him and would catch him on the rebound (T.835). Appellant also said he had washed the cast because it was dirty (T.836).

Dr. Peter Lipkovic performed the autopsy on Linton Moody. Mr. Moody was 64 years old and showed a moderate amount of heart disease and emphysema at the time of death. The autopsy revealed numerous bruises on the head, face and neck, a shallow slash wound on the neck, a rug burn on the left elbow and bruises on both knee caps. The victim also sustained seven deep stab wounds in the upper left chest area, causing massive internal bleeding and death. There was no blood on the lower extremities, indicating that the victim was prone at the time the injuries were inflicted. The bruises on the neck were consistent with strangulation by either a forearm or cast, or possibly a broad belt (T.877, 888-900, 904-913).

With the aid of a diagram of the human torso, Dr. Lipkovic described the angle and direction of the stab wounds and opined that the stabs were inflicted by someone using the left hand, whether the assailant was straddling the victim or standing behind him. The chest wounds were all grouped in a relatively small area, parallel to each other, suggesting that they were inflicted within a relatively short period of time and without any significant change in position between the victim and assailant (T.918-924).

Dr. Lipkovic admitted on cross-examination that the stab wounds could have been made with the right hand depending on how the knife was held and the

position of the assailant. He could not determine from the wounds if one or two knives were used. There was no evidence that a knife had broken. A woman could have caused the injuries (T.924-930).

After presenting its evidence, the stated rested (T.964). Appellant's motion for judgment of acquittal and motion for mistrial were denied (T.964-967).

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