IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 7 1007 CLERK SUPERICE COURT By______ Deputy CIPA

CASE NO. 69,197

ETHERIA VERDEL JACKSON,

Appellant,

v.

۰.,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KURT L. BARCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

(a) The scope and limitation of cross examination lies within the sound discretion of the trial judge. The court's ruling is not subject to review unless there is an abuse of discretion. The appellee submits that the testimony proffered by the appellant would not have demonstrated bias and in any event was totally irrelevant to the matters brought out on direct examination.

(b) The admission of Linda Riley's testimony indicating that the appellant had been in prison was introduced to rebut the appellant's defense story that the victim and Ms. Riley had an affair while the appellant was in prison.

(c) The statements made by the appellant to Detective Warren while they were in the hospital were admissible pursuant to Fla.Stat. 90.803(3)(a) and Fla.Stat. 90.803(18).

ISSUE II

The testimony that the parole commission was of the opinion that a life sentence for first degree murder was a life sentence without parole is totally irrelevant to any mitigating circumstance since the opinion is incorrect.

ISSUE III

Evidence that the appellant had been convicted for escape was admissible to prove the aggravating circumstance pursuant to

- 17 -

Fla.Stat. 921.141(a)(5).

ISSUE IV

The State's cross examination of the appellant during the penalty phase was admissible. The State's cross examination tended to rebut the appellant's assertion that he was a person that would assert a good influence on his children.

ISSUE V

The trial court correctly used the standard jury instruction on mitigating circumstance. The Standard jury instruction is adequate since it tracks Fla.Stat. 921.141.

ISSUE VI

The trial court's finding of the aggravating factors of Fla.Stat. 921.141(5)(h) and 921.141(5)(i) was correct since each was based on separate and distinct evidentiary facts.

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT UNDULY RESTRICTED THE APPELLANT'S CROSS EXAMINATION OF A STATE WITNESS SO AS TO DEPRIVE HIM OF A FAIR TRIAL GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION. (RESTATED).

A. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RESTRICTING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S CROSS EXAMINATION OF LINDA RILEY REGARDING HER BIAS. (RESTATED).

ARGUMENT

It is well established in Florida Law that the scope and limitation of cross examination lies within the sound discretion of the trial judge. <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 360 So.2d 39 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978); <u>Powe v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1272 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); <u>Duncan v. State</u>, 450 So.2d 242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Furthermore, the trial court's ruling as to the scope of cross examination is not subject to review unless there is an abuse of discretion. <u>Dennis v. State</u>, 214 So.2d 661, (Fla. 3rd DCA 1968), cert denied, 89 S.Ct. 900, 393 U.S. 1101, 21 L.Ed.2d 794; <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981); <u>Gelabert v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 1007 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); <u>U.S. v. Ruben</u>, 733 F.2d 837 (11th Cir. 1984). Moreover, before an appellant can prevail he must show that the abuse of discretion was clearly prejudicial. <u>U.S. v. Alonzo</u>, 740 F.2d 862 (11th Cir. 1984).

In the instant case the appellant contends that the trial court's restriction of his cross examination of Linda Riley restricted his ability to develop the issue of bias on the part of the witness. The appellee submits that there was no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial judge. The appellant vigorously protested that he wanted to cross examine the witness to show bias, however, when given the opportunity to proffer his cross examination he asked the witness only if she had been seeing someone else while the appellant was in jail. (T 668-669). The appellee submits that even if the trial court had allowed the appellant to ask his question it is certainly doubtful that it would have led the jury to believe that the witness was acting out of bias. The question and answer were totally irrelevant to the matters brought out on direct examination. Defense counsel at trial clearly stated that he wanted to ask the question to refute the evidence brought out by the State indicating that the witness still saw the appellant in jail, took him money and still maintained a relationship with The proffered question was totally irrelevant and would him. have had little or no impact upon the credibility of the witness's testimony concerning the events which resulted in Mr. Moody's murder. Moreover, the appellant was given the opportunity to develop the issue of bias through the very competent and thorough cross examination of the witness concerning the possibility that her bias arose from the

- 20 -

suggestion that if she didn't testify she could be charged as an accessory to the murder and kidnapping based upon the story she told the detective. (T 674-675, 679-680, 681). It is clear from those pages of the transcript that the trial court gave the defense every latitude in developing cross examination which would show bias as a result of the witness's fear of prosecution.

The state attorney's line of questioning concerning the witness's telephone calls, visits and gifts of money to the appellant while he was in jail were merely to demonstrate that she continued to maintain contact with him. (R 666). The trial court gave defense counsel every opportunity and even pointed out the proper way to cross examine the witness concerning these phone calls, visits and gifts. (T 669). Obviously, for strategic reasons defense counsel declined to pursue the trial court's suggested line of cross examination. In any event, even if relevant the prejudicial effect of the proffered testimony clearly outweighed the probative value and was therefore inadmissible pursuant to Fla.Stat 90.03. Consequently, the appellant's judgment and sentence should be affirmed.

B. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE THAT APPELLANT HAD BEEN IN PRISON. (RESTATED).

The appellant next contends that he was denied a fair trial by the admission of Linda Riley's testimony indicating that he

- 21 -

had previously been in prison. The appellant argues that the evidence was irrelevant and was merely introduced to constitute an attack on his character.

The appellant is correct in his assertion that Florida Courts have severely limited the admissibility of evidence that a criminal defendant had committed other crimes. <u>Williams v.</u> <u>State</u>, 110 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1959). The Florida Supreme Court in <u>Williams</u> determined that evidence of collateral offenses is inadmissiable if its sole relevancy is to establish bad character or the accused's propensity to commit crimes.

In the instant case the State's question and Ms. Riley's answer which contained the evidence of appellant's prior imprisonment was not introduced merely to show his bad character or his propensity to commit crimes. The evidence was introduced to rebut appellant's assertion to Detective Warren that Linda Riley killed Mr. Moody because of an affair which took place while the appellant was in prison. The evidence was admissible to disprove the appellant's defense by showing that the victim and Ms. Riley did not meet until after the appellant was out of prison. The appellant's testimony later in the trial. Since the evidence was relevant to matters other than the appellant's character it was admissible. <u>Ruffin v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 277 (Fla. 1981); <u>Drake v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 1079, cert. denied 104

- 22 -

S.Ct. 2361 (Fla. 1981).

Even if the admission of the evidence of appellant's prior prison stay was error, the error was corrected or rendered harmless by the admission into evidence of his statement to Detective Warren wherein he disclosed that he had been in prison. <u>Peak v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 1166 (1st DCA 1978). In <u>Peak</u> the appellant contended that the trial court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial on the grounds that evidence introduced showed that he had a prior criminal record. The Court affirmed the judgment and sentence stating:

> As the defendant himself admitted on cross examination at trial that he did in fact have a prior criminal record, we regard the inadvertent reference to the defendant's prior conviction as harmless.

Dominquez v. State, 403 So.2d 609 (Fla. appellate 1981); State v. Woodson, 330 So.2d 152 (Fla. appellate 1976).

Admittedly, unlike the defendant in <u>Peak</u>, the appellant did not testify at trial, however, his statement to Detective Warren which indicated that he had been in prison was none the less admitted into evidence without objection. The evidence was admitted into evidence after the question concerning his prison release was asked of Linda Riley, however, the State could have just as easily introduced the appellant's statement that while he was in prison Mr. Moody and Ms. Riley had an affair, by placing Detective Warren on the witness stand first. In any event, it seems clear that it was inevitable that the jury would receive the information that the appellant had been in prison, the State surely would have introduced his statement even if it had been prohibited from asking the question of Linda Riley. The appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

C. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING APPELLANT'S STATEMENTS TO DETECTIVE WARREN AT THE HOSPITAL. (RESTATED).

The appellant contends that the court below erred by admitting statements made by him at the hospital to Detective Warren. The appellant's contention that his statement was irrelevant is totally unfounded.

Relevant evidence is evidence tending to prove a material fact and is admissible except as provided by law. Fla.Stat. 90.401; 90.402. A trial court has wide discretion concerning the admission of evidence and absence an abuse of discretion its ruling should not be disturbed. <u>Welty v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981); <u>Booker v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 910 (Fla. 1981). The appellee submits that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the statements the appellant made at the hospital. The statements are clearly relevant when viewed in context with statements that the appellant had made to his mother the day before. The State introduced evidence which indicated that the appellant went to his mother and told her three

- 24 -

different versions of how the murder took place. While relating these stories to his mother he repeatedly asked her how the story sounded. (T 768-801). A few days before relating these tales to his mother he went to someone else asking them to cover for him. When the statements at the hospital are linked with the statements made to his mother and his request of her of how they sounded, the statements are relevant to demonstrate the appellant's then existing state of mind. Fla.Stat. 90.803(3)(a). His state of mind was that of guilt, guilt complied with elation that he had fabricated a story which, in his mind, would make it possible for him to avoid conviction. The appellant's state of mind, at the time he made statements to the police, is relevant for purposes of determining guilt. Palmes v. State, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1981).

The appellant argued that the statements were hearsay and did not fit within one of the exceptions to the hearsay rule. The appellee submits that the statements come within Fla.Stat. 90.803 (18).

As correctly pointed out by the appellant in his brief, even if it was error for the trial court to admit his statements, the error was harmless. The judgment should not be reversed unless the error was prejudicial to the substantial rights of the appellant. <u>Palmes v. State</u>, 397 So.2d 648 (Fla. 1981). <u>Padgett</u> <u>v. State</u>, 84 Fla. 590, 94 So. 865 (Fla. 1922); <u>Kirby v. State</u>, 44 Fla. 81, 32 So. 836 (Fla. 1902). In <u>Palmes v. State</u>, the Florida Supreme Court set-forth the criteria that should be used in

- 25 -

making a determination as to whether an erroneous ruling has caused harm to the substantial rights of the defendant. The court stated:

> In determining whether an erroneous ruling below caused harm to the substantial rights of the defendant, an appellate court considers all of the relevant circumstances, including any curative ruling or event and the general weight and quality of evidence. In other words the court inquires generally whether, but for the erroneous ruling it is likely that the result below would have been different.

The court went on to conclude that if an error affected the constitutional rights of the defendant, the reviewing court could not find it harmless if there was a reasonable possibility that error may have contributed to the accused's conviction. However, the court did not state that even constitutional error could be treated as harmless in situations where the evidence of guilt is overwhelming. See also Roman v. State, 475 So.2d 1228 (Fla. 1985). In the instant case Linda Riley's testimony, coupled with the appellant's possession of a large a ount of money, the fingerprint evidence, his attempt to fabricate a perjured alibi constitutes overwhelming evidence of guilt which would cure any error which may have occured. See Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427 31 L.Ed.2d 340, 92 S.Ct. 1056 (1972). Since the appellant has failed to demonstrate an abuse of the trial court's discretion which resulted in unfair prejudice his conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

- 26 -

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TESTIMONY OF HARRY DODD THAT A LIFE SENTENCE IS REGARDED BY THE PAROLE COMMISSION AS A LIFE SENTENCE WITHOUT POSSIBLITY OF PAROLE IS RELEVANT MITIGATING EVIDENCE FOR THE JURY TO CONSIDER IN MAKING IT'S SENTENCING RECOMMENDATION. (RESTATED).

ARGUMENT

Next the appellant contends that it was error for the trial court to deny his motion in limine wherein he sought to preclude the State from advising the jury that, if given a life sentence, the appellant would be eligible for parole in twenty-five years. The appellant contended that advising the jury that the appellant would be eligible for parole after twenty-five years was misleading since the parole commission was of the opinion that since, the inactment of sentencing guidelines, a person that was sentenced to life was no longer eligible for parole.

The trial court was correct in denying the motion since the basis for the motion was totally incorrect. Fla.Stat. 921.001(4)(a) specifically states that the sentencing guidelines do not apply to capital felonies. See also <u>Brosz v. State</u>, 466 So.2d 256 (5th DCA 1985); <u>Coleman v. State</u>, 483 So.2d 539 (2d DCA 1986). On the other hand, the court was correct in allowing the state to advise the jury that if a life sentence were imposed on the appellant that he would be eligible for parole after twentyfive years incarceration. Fla.Stat. 775.082 provides that a person convicted of a capital felony shall be punished by life imprisonment and shall be required to serve no less than twentyfive years before becoming eligible for parole unless they were sentenced to death pursuant to Fla.Stat. 921.141. Obviously, in light of the wording of the statute it would not be misleading, as contended by the appellant, to inform a jury that a person sentenced to life would be eligible for parole after twenty-five years.

In the trial court below, as an alternative to his motion in limine, the appellant sought to have the court advise the jury as to the opinion of the parole commission concerning a life sentence without parole by introducing Mr. Dodd's affidavit or permitting him to present Mr. Dodd's testimony during the penalty phase. The court correctly denied the motion. In support of his argument that the trial court should have allowed him to introduce Mr. Dodd's affidavit or testimony the appellant cites Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S 586, 601 (1978) and Eddings v. Okaloma, 455 U.S. 104, 114 (1982), as establishing the principle that a sentencer may not refuse to consider or be precluded from considering "any relevant mitigating evidence." The appellant does this by citing language from Skipper v. South Carolina, 476 U.S. , 106 S.Ct., 90 L.Ed.2d 1, 6 (1986) wherein they cited language from Eddings v. Okaloma, supra. The key of course, to the principle eluded to by the appellant is the phrase "relevant mitigating evidence." Certainly the parole commission's incorrect opinion as to the status of the law in Florida is not

- 28 -

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